NORTH CENTRAL FARM MANAGEMENT EXTENSION COMMITTEE

Rental Agreements
For Farm Buildings and
Livestock Facilities

Acknowledgements This publication is a product of the North Central Regional (NCR) Cooperative Extension Services of: Illinois Indiana Iowa Kansas Kentucky Michigan Minnesota Missouri

North Dakota Ohio

Oklahoma

Nebraska

South Dakota

Wisconsin

and

The USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture (NIFA)

Funding

Funding for this project was provided by the North Central Risk Management Education Center (http://NCRME.org) and the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture (http://www.csrees.usda.gov)

This material is based upon work supported by USDA/NIFA under Award Number 2012- 49200-20032

NCFMEC-04 February 2013

© 2013 by the North Central Farm Management Extension Committee For more information about this and other leases, visit http://AgLease101.org

Rental Agreements For Farm Buildings and Livestock Facilities

Farm buildings and livestock facilities often outlast their owner's need for them, but are still usable. Other operators want the services of certain types of farm buildings but are not in a position to invest in new facilities. Both parties can benefit by developing a lease arrangement. The owner receives a return from resources that might otherwise lie idle or be underutilized. The operator can use these resources without making a large fixed investment. However, they must agree on the amount of the rental payment and the use and care of the property.

This publication examines the major considerations in developing rental agreements for crop and livestock buildings and facilities from both the owner's and operator's points of view. Three different approaches to determining a cash rental rate will be presented. Finally, several other important considerations for developing a lease agreement will be discussed. A sample lease form is also included.



Table of Contents

Value of the Facilities to the Operator	J
Establishing a Rental Rate	1
Owner's Costs	2
Commercial Rates	4
Farm Records	4
Special Considerations	4
Repairs	4
Water	5
Manure Disposal	5
Insurance	6
Time and Basis of Payment	6
Common Provisions in a Lease	6
Worksheet	8
Farm Building or Livestock Facility Lease	i



Farm buildings and livestock facilities often outlast their owner's need for them, but are still usable. Other operators may want the use of certain types of farm buildings but are not in a position to invest in new facilities. Both parties can benefit by developing a leasing arrangement. The owner receives a return from resources which might otherwise lie idle or be underutilized. The operator can use these resources without making a large fixed investment. However, they must agree on the amount of the rental payment and the use and care of the property.

This publication examines the major considerations in developing rental agreements for crop and livestock buildings and facilities from both the owner's and operator's points of view. Three different approaches to determining a cash rental rate will be presented. Finally, several other important considerations for developing a lease agreement will be discussed.

Value of the Facilities to the Operator

The operator should carefully budget the added net income that could reasonably be expected from using the building or facility. This provides an estimate of how much the operator can afford to pay for the use of the facilities.

An operator should consider several key factors before entering into a rental agreement:

Condition—Are the building and equipment in usable condition? Will major repairs be needed? Who will pay for repairs and maintenance? Will operating costs be unusually high? Poor feed storage may result in high spoilage, or livestock performance may suffer if equipment breaks down.

Obsolescence—Does the facility reflect current technology? Can replacement parts be easily obtained? Does it meet current environmental regulations? Extra labor, management and supervision may be required with outdated equipment.

Use—Does the building or equipment fit the operator's current needs? A hog producer may have little use for a silo or milking parlor.

Size—Are the buildings and equipment of large enough capacity for profitable livestock production, considering the operator's labor and feed supplies? Is the storage facility large enough for the quantity of grain, forage or machinery to be stored? Or is it too large to be used efficiently or to match the operator's other equipment?

Location—How far are facilities located from the operator's base of operations? Distant buildings are less valuable to the operator because of the higher transportation costs and greater inconvenience involved. Security risks are higher if livestock, machinery or stored crops are located where they cannot be regularly observed.

Convenience—Is the operation of equipment simple and efficient? Can grain or livestock be easily unloaded and loaded? Does the building contain features which increase operator safety or comfort? Or, is it of a design that poses physical risk to the operator and livestock?

Alternatives—Could the same services or facilities be obtained elsewhere? At what cost? If the owner is offering a service that is difficult to obtain in the area, a higher rental rate will likely result. Likewise, the number of other people who might want to rent the same building will impact its rental value.

Establishing a Rental Rate

Most owners and operators want to determine a fair and reasonable rental rate given the particular circumstances of their situation. However, a common or typical rental rate for a particular building or piece of equipment seldom exists. In many areas there is no widespread market for specialized livestock buildings. The fixed location of existing structures often narrows the market to just a few prospective operators. The factors surrounding each individual case and the bargaining position of each of the parties involved will determine the final rental rate.



Owner's Costs

Owners are primarily interested in recovering their costs for a particular farm building or facility, particularly any operating costs not paid directly by the operator. In addition, owners may consider proper care and maintenance of their property to be important. At a minimum the rental rate should cover any added costs related to the use of the facility. These variable costs include use-related repair and maintenance costs, utilities expense and additional wear and tear.

Most of the owner's costs will remain the same regardless of how much the asset is used. These costs are usually called ownership or fixed costs, and include depreciation due to age, interest (return on investment), property taxes, insurance and certain repair and maintenance costs not related to use. Because these costs occur whether the asset is rented or not, any rental amount in excess of variable costs is a net gain to the owner, even if it pays only part of the ownership costs.

Estimating the total of the owner's costs for the item rented can provide a starting point for negotiating a rental rate. Worksheet 1 can be used to help estimate these costs. Following is a brief discussion of some of the factors impacting the owner's costs.

Current Value-Most ownership costs can be tied to the current value of a building or facility.

The best estimate of the current value of buildings or equipment is the price that could be realized from selling them on the open market. However, some items are not sold frequently enough to have an established market price.

Original cost is not a very good estimate of the current value of buildings and equipment unless they are only a few years old, or are being newly constructed. Current value is usually less than the original cost due to depreciation and obsolescence. Current replacement cost is a good place to begin when estimating the current value of a facility. Replacement cost refers to the cost of a new implement or facility which is of similar size as the one in question, performs a similar service and is technologically comparable. Estimating current value as a fraction of today's replacement cost adjusts for both depreciation and inflation since the asset was new.

For example, a livestock shed that has an estimated useful life of 20 years (Table 1) and which is now eight years old would have an estimated current value equal to 60 percent of its replacement cost (12 years remaining divided by 20-year life). If the lease period will be more than one year in length, use the average age of the property during the expected lease period, rather than its current age.

Table 1. Guidelines for Estimating Annual Ownership Costs

	Useful Life (years)	Repairs (% of new replacement cost)
Livestock buildings	15-25	1-3%
Livestock equipment	5-10	3-5%
Grain storage, drying	15-20	3-4%
Machinery and hay storage	20-25	1-2%

If the property is in particularly good or poor condition for its age, or functionally obsolete, adjust the current value up or down to reflect this.

Some facilities have very specialized uses or are attached to a fixed location. This often reduces their market value and rental value. A realistic estimate of current value should take this into account. Unusually complex or expensive facilities should be valued by a professional appraiser or dealer, particularly if a long term rental agreement is being negotiated.



Depreciation—The annual depreciation for equipment or facilities depends on the remaining useful life. For example, items with a 10-year remaining life depreciate at an average rate of 10 percent of their current value annually. Remember that you are estimating loss of value due to use and obsolescence, not depreciation for income tax purposes. The full investment cost of many items can be depreciated on the tax return at a much faster rate than their useful values decline.

Facilities that have aged well beyond their original useful lives may be considered to have no depreciation expense, that is, they are no longer losing value.

Interest—The interest rate for intermediate term loans and the rate of return from other fixed investments can be used to estimate a cost of capital. Multiply this rate by the current value of the facilities, or by its average value during a multi-year lease, to find an annual interest cost.

Insurance and Taxes—The annual cost of insurance and property taxes can be estimated as one to two percent of the current or average value for most types of farm assets. If actual insurance and taxes are known, that information can be used rather than estimates. In some states agricultural personal property items are not subject to property tax. Check your own property tax rates and insurance coverage rates for accuracy.

Repairs and Maintenance—Unlike most other ownership costs, repair and maintenance costs usually increase as a building or other structure ages. Repair costs can be estimated as a percent of new replacement value, to allow for changes in the costs of parts and labor. Table 1 shows some suggested percentages for estimating repair costs for various types of rental items. For older or well-used items, use the high end of the ranges shown.

A more satisfactory method may be to keep a record of actual repair and maintenance costs incurred by the owner during the lease period. Some operators may be able to reduce repair costs by providing some or all of the necessary labor.

Other Operating Costs—Costs such as water, fuel and oil, electricity or gas typically will be the responsibility of the operator, either directly, or indirectly, through the overall rental charge. The most accurate method is to measure the actual consumption of fuel or other energy, perhaps through a separate meter. If electrical use cannot be metered separately, an estimate of its cost can be made based on the size of lights and motors used to power fans or conveyers involved and their hours of use (see example).

Example-Estimating Electrical Use

Lights

Multiply wattage of bulb by hours of use, then divide by 1,000.

150 watt bulb × 12 hours/day × 30 days \div 1,000 = 54 kilowatt-hours (kWh)

Electric Motors

Multiply horsepower rating of motor by hours of use, then by 0.85.

10 hp. \times 300 hours \times 0.85 = 2,550 kWh

Cost

Multiply total kWh by farm electrical rate. $2,550 \text{ kWh} \times 80.11 \text{ per kWh} = 280.50

Total Costs—The total of all ownership and operating costs can be used to estimate a rental charge for the whole year or a portion of the year. If a structure or piece of equipment is rented for less than a full year, and can be rented to someone else for the rest of the year, the annual ownership cost estimates should be reduced proportionately. If the facility realistically can be rented only once a year, as in the case of a grain bin, the rent should reflect ownership costs for a full year. Alternatively, the total can be divided by a typical annual production level to estimate a charge per unit of production or use, such as the cost per pig finished.



Keep in mind that many structures may not attract sufficient rent to pay for all ownership and operating costs, due to their fixed location or a low demand for their services. However, rental rates should at least cover operating costs and added wear to make it worthwhile for the owner to enter into a lease. Thus, the operating (variable) costs is often viewed as a lower bound when negotiating rent.

When selecting or negotiating with a potential tenant, characteristics such as reliability, experience, honesty, financial condition, availability, possession of skills and equipment for making repairs or improvements, and likely longevity should be considered. A lower rental charge may be acceptable in exchange for strong performance in these other areas.

Commercial Rates

In some cases the same service being offered by the owner may be available from a commercial source at an established price. An example is storage for grain. A tenant may not be willing to pay more for grain storage than the rate at which it can be obtained at a local elevator, unless convenience is a factor. In fact, on-farm storage rates tend to be below commercial rates because the operator must assume the risk of loss, perform the labor and management functions, and use loading and unloading facilities which may be less convenient. Nevertheless commercial rates serve as an unbiased reference that reflects current costs as well as and supply and demand conditions of a close substitute or alternative for the facility being considered.

Property rental agents can help determine an appropriate rental rate for a farm home or other buildings. Additionally, commercial livestock companies often pay standard rates for the use of feeding facilities,

One advantage of using commercial custom rates as a guide to rental charges is that they reflect average per unit costs at an efficient level of use.

Farm Records

A third approach to setting a fair rental value is to find out how much it costs other farming operations to own and operate the same facilities. Many state Extension Services provide farm record summaries that have detailed cost data. If possible, use data for the same enterprise and size of operation as the facilities under consideration. Try to include all the ownership and operating costs that the owner of the facilities will pay. Keep in mind that records may not include noncash interest (opportunity) costs on the owner's capital.

Many private production record services also provide group summaries with detailed enterprise cost data. Generally only members or users of the service have access to this information.

While record data from other farms may not accurately reflect costs for a particular set of facilities, they at least indicate typical opportunity costs for operators of not owning their own buildings and equipment.

These three approaches can provide a starting point for negotiating an acceptable rental rate. The actual rent agreed on will probably fall somewhere among these values, depending on each person's bargaining position and the demand for and the supply of similar property in the area.

Special Considerations

Several areas of responsibility need to be discussed and agreed on before the leasing period begins. How these are handled may affect the amount of rent that is ultimately paid for the facilities.

Repairs

Most buildings and equipment will need some maintenance and repairs eventually. At the beginning of the lease the operator and owner should jointly inspect the rental property to be sure everything is in satisfactory working order. In general, it is the owner's responsibility to have the facilities



in good condition when the lease begins. Some leases contain a 30-day trial period at the beginning during which the owner agrees to repair any part of the facility that is not performing satisfactorily. This is especially important when equipment has not been used recently.

Next the owner and operator need to agree on how future repairs and maintenance costs will be handled. Lubrication, sharpening, adjustments to controls, and replacement of fasteners, controls and small equipment are usually the operator's responsibility. This ensures that such repairs are done quickly, and also motivates the operator not to abuse equipment. When major building components need to be fixed or replaced, the owner generally pays the cost. The operator may provide labor and expertise to perform the repairs, when possible.

Portable items such as feeders and waterers, heaters, gates and panels, skid loaders and feed grinders can be provided by either party. Naturally the rental rate will be higher if the owner provides such items. The lease agreement should list who will supply specific items. In any case, major repair costs are usually paid by the owner of such equipment.

Some leases allow the tenant to charge repairs up to a maximum dollar amount without prior approval, but amounts over this limit must be approved by the owner before they are carried out.

Another possible lease provision is to allow a third party arbitrator to decide if major repair costs are caused by normal wear and tear, or by misuse of the buildings and equipment by the operator.

Water

An adequate supply of water is essential for livestock facilities. The source of the water and condition of pumps and waterlines should be determined at the beginning of the lease. The value of the water system should be included when estimating a fair rental rate. Repairs and maintenance can be handled as described in the previous section.

If the water supply becomes inadequate due to drought or other problems, the lease needs to state who is responsible for obtaining supplemental water. When the problem is due to natural causes, some tenants and owners divide the cost of obtaining extra water. This may include reimbursing the tenant for hauling costs. Or, the owner may pay the cost of the water while the tenant transports it.

If water is supplied by a utility, such as a rural water system, the variable cost is usually borne by the tenant. If the cost or use cannot be metered directly, some other method of estimating monthly consumption and cost must be determined.

Manure Disposal

Manure collection and disposal is becoming an increasingly important issue in livestock production. It is the owner's responsibility to

Table 2. Custom Rates for Removing and Spreading Manure

	Average	Range
Iowa		
Liquid, drag line	\$11.35 per 1,000 gallons	\$8.00 - 15.00
Liquid, injection	$11.95~\mathrm{per}\ 1.000~\mathrm{gallons}$	\$9.00 - 15.80
Solid	\$112.00 per hour	\$50.00 - 200.00
Kentucky		
Liquid, broadcast	\$10.00 per 1,000 gallons	
Solid	\$76.00 per hour	
Nebraska		
Solid	\$82.33 per hour	\$35.00 - 130.00
Liquid, spreading	\$78.00 per hour	\$30.00 - 180.00
Wisconsin		
Liquid, injection	\$7.70 per 1,000 gallons	\$4.60 - \$10.00
Solid	\$100.00 per hour	\$30.00 - \$200.00

Source: USDA Custom Rate Survey 2012



see that leased facilities meet all applicable environmental and zoning regulations related to livestock wastes.

The question of who removes manure and to whose land it is applied is best answered according to practical considerations. Who has the proper equipment and who has cropland that can utilize the manure are good places to start. Distance of cropland from the livestock facility is also a factor.

If the same party both disposes of the manure and benefits from it, then probably no payment needs to be considered. However, if the tenant applies the manure on the owner's land, for example, then the tenant should receive payment for performing this service, or have the rental charge for the facility reduced accordingly. Times and locations for spreading must also be set. Table 2 shows some custom hire rates reported for disposing of manure.

Insurance

Generally, each party is responsible for insuring his/her own property. This means the owner would carry comprehensive insurance on buildings, equipment, fences and other property, as well as general liability insurance. These costs are built into the rental charges. Operators would need to insure livestock, feed, and their own equipment.

Time and Basis of Payment

The date that rental payments are due typically coincides with the periods in which the tenant receives cash income. Annual or semi-annual payments are common, although for a continuous livestock production facility monthly payments may be more reasonable. An exception might be a grain bin, which generally can be used only once a year, even if the grain is stored for just a few months.

Some rental rates for buildings and equipment are based on the actual level of usage rather than a fixed annual amount. For example, a swine finishing facility may be rented for a set rate per head finished, or a machine shed may be rented for so much per square foot of space used. In these cases the owner and operator need to agree on how the level of usage will be determined.

Common Provisions in a Lease

One of the primary functions of a written lease agreement is to anticipate possible developments and problems and state how to handle such problems if they actually develop.

Putting the terms of the rental agreement in writing has the following advantages:

- 1. It is evidence that a legally binding agreement exists.
- 2. It encourages a detailed discussion and statement of the agreement, which assures a better understanding by both parties.
- 3. It serves as a record of the terms originally agreed upon and accepted.
- 4. It provides a valuable guide for the heirs if either the owner or operator dies.
- It serves as evidence of the business arrangement for income or estate tax purposes.

The following points need to be covered in a written lease in order for it to provide the advantages listed above:

- 1. Names, addresses and telephone numbers and other contact information of persons entering into the lease agreement, and corresponding signatures.
- 2. Description of the property, including type, size, location and condition.
- 3. Beginning and ending dates of the agreement.
- Termination procedure, including advance notice requirements.
- Rental charges, including amount per time period or per unit of use or production, time and place of payment, and penalties for nonpayment or late payment.



- 6. Specific use to be made of the structure or equipment. Limitations on use can be stated, such as the maximum number of livestock to be housed or the maximum number of cows to be milked.
- 7. Responsibilities of both owner and operator, such as provision of insurance coverage, payment of operating repairs and capital repairs, removal of livestock wastes, provision for water, electricity and other utilities, inspections, rights of entry, assignment of rights and coverage of damages.
- 8. Arbitration procedure to settle differences between owner and operator.

The example lease contained in this bulletin covers these points. Unwanted provisions can be crossed out or omitted and other provisions added. For long-term agreements the lease should be reviewed every few years to be sure rates and terms are still acceptable.

For additional references, see the North Central Farm Management Extension Committee Website at: http://AgLease101.org/

Worksheet for Estimating Owner's Costs			
Description			
Type of building or facility:			
Size or capacity:			
Condition: good average	above	averag	e
Obsolescence: modern average		bsolet	
Ownership			
1. New replacement cost		\$	
2. a) Useful life (see Table 1)			years
b) Age now or average age during lease period			years
c) Years of life remaining (line a - line b)			years
d) Percent of life remaining (line c / line a)		,	•
3. a) Average value: replacement cost (line $1 \times \text{line } 2d$)		\$	_
b) Adjustment factor for above or below average condition	n		
c) Adjusted value (line 3a × line 3b)		\$	
4. Depreciation (1 divided by remaining life, line 2c)	%		
5. Interest rate	%		
6. Insurance and taxes rate	%		
7. Total ownership cost percent (line 4 + line 5 + line 6)	%		
8. Estimated annual ownership costs (line $3c \times line 7$)		S	
Operating Costs (if paid by owner)			
9. Repairs% (see Table 1) × new replacement cos	t (line 1)),	
or actual expenditures per year		\$	
10. Utilities, fuel or other energy costs per year			
a) Fuel: annual consumption × rate \$		Ψ	
b) Electricity: annual consumption × rate \$_		Ψ_	
c) Water; annual consumption × rate \$_		\$_	
11. Other miscellaneous costs		\$	
Total			
12. Total of owner's costs (line $8 + \text{line } 9 + \text{line } 10 + \text{line } 11$	*	\$	
13. Portion of year used or % of total annual use by operat	tor		%
14. Annual costs adjusted for use (line 12 x line 13)		\$	
15. Normal annual use (head, acres, months, bushels, etc., i	f		
applicable) 16. Owner's cost per unit of use (line 14 / line 15)		\$	

<u>NOTES</u>

W

i

Farm Building or Livestock Facility Lease

For additional information see NCFMEC-04 (Rental Agreements For Farm Buildings and Livestock Facilities). This form can provide the owner and operator with a guide for developing an agreement to fit their individual situation. This form is not intended to be a legal document nor take the place of legal advice pertaining to contractual relationships between the two parties. Because of the possibility that a lease agreement may be legally considered a partnership under certain conditions, seeking proper legal advice is recommended when developing such an agreement. This lease entered into this day of ______, 20___, between Address _____, spouse of Address hereafter known as "the owner", and _____, operator of ______ Address _____, spouse of Address hereafter known as "the operator." I. Property Description The owner hereby leases to the operator, to use for agricultural and related purposes, the following described property: situated in Section ______ of _____ Township in _____ County, ____(State), with all improvements thereon except as follows: The property is agreed to be of the following size and condition: Size or capacity _____ Condition (list defects): II. General Terms of Lease A. Time period covered. The provisions of this agreement shall be in effect for _____ year(s) and/or ____ months commencing on the _____ day of ______, 20___. B. Review of lease. A written request is required for a general review of the lease or for consideration of

proposed changes by either party, at least _____ days prior to the final date for giving notice to terminate

the lease as specified in II.A.

- C. Amendments and alterations. Amendments and alterations to this lease shall be in writing and shall be signed by both the owner and operator.
- D. No partnership intended. It is particularly understood and agreed that this lease shall not be deemed to be nor intended to give rise to a partnership relation.
- E. Transfer of property. If the owner should sell or otherwise transfer title to the property, he/she will do so subject to the provisions of this lease.
- F. Right of entry. The owner reserves the right to inspect the property at any reasonable time to: (a) consult with the operator; (b) make repairs, improvements, and inspections; and (c) after notice of termination of the lease is given, do any customary seasonal work, none of which is to interfere with the operator in carrying out regular farm operations.
- G. No right to sublease. The owner does not convey to the operator the right to lease or sublet any part of the property or to assign the lease to any person or persons whomsoever.
- H. Binding on heirs. The provisions of this lease shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators, and successors of both owner and operator in like manner as upon the original parties, except as provided by mutual written agreement.
- I. Failure to pay. If the operator fails to pay the rent due or fails to keep the agreements of this lease, all costs and attorney fees of the owner in enforcing collection or performance shall be added to and become a part of the obligations payable by the operator thereunder. J. Additional provisions: III. Amount and Payment of Cash Rent A. The operator agrees to pay a total cash rent of \$_____ during the time period covered by this lease (see Section II.A.). The cash rent will be payable as follows: \$_____ on or before the _____ day of each month \$_____ on or before the ____ day of the following months: Or. at the following location or address: B. Or, the operator agrees to pay a total cash rent of \$_____ per____ (specify unit) during the time period covered by this lease (see Section II.A.). The rent will be payable on or before _____ The number of units for computing the rent will be determined as follows:

IV. Operation and Maintenance of Property

A. The operator agrees:

<u>_</u>

	(units) per	units at any given (time period).
2. General maintenance. To perform ordinary the property in as good condition as it was at t from causes beyond the operator's control are	maintenance during the beginning. Normal	ne lease period necessary to maintain wear and depreciation and damage
3. Repairs. If the owner is responsible for pay for maintenance and repairs in excess of \$ owner.	ment for repairs and n	naintenance, not to purchase materia le year without written consent of th
4. Insurance. To fully insure livestock, crops, that are located on the property against theft, Not to violate restrictions in the owner's insurance Restrictions to be observed are as follows:	casualty, or other loss,	or to not hold the owner responsible
5. Costs of operation. To pay the following uticalculated as follows:	lity and operating cost	s, with charge or usage to be
6. Addition of improvements. Not to: (a) add without written consent of the owner; (b) incu	r any expense to the o	wner except as follows:
7. Damages. When the operator leaves the produmages to the property for which the operator and depreciation or damages outside the contra	or is responsible. Any d	lecrease in value due to ordinary wea
	or is responsible. Any of ol of the operator is ex	lecrease in value due to ordinary wea cepted.
damages to the property for which the operator and depreciation or damages outside the contra	or is responsible. Any of ol of the operator is ex nure at the following a	lecrease in value due to ordinary wea cepted.
damages to the property for which the operate and depreciation or damages outside the contr. 8. Livestock manure. To remove livestock manure.	or is responsible. Any of ol of the operator is ex nure at the following a anner and location:	lecrease in value due to ordinary wea cepted.
damages to the property for which the operator and depreciation or damages outside the control. 8. Livestock manure. To remove livestock manure and dispose of it according to the following manufacture (Strike this provision if owner is responsible for	or is responsible. Any color of the operator is extracted at the following apartment and location: or manure removal.) romptly as possible any be destroyed or dame	lecrease in value due to ordinary weak cepted. pproximate times: y building or equipment regularly laged by fire, flood, or other cause

maintenance o	nent. To pay for materials purchased by the operator for purposes of repair and in the property being rented in an amount not to exceed \$ in any one year, except greed upon. Reimbursement shall be made within days after the operator submits l.
nature, that do owner further a at any time thi condition that	improvements. To let the operator make minor improvements of a temporary or removable not mar the condition of appearance of the property at the operator's expense. The agrees to let the operator remove such improvements even though they are legally fixtures is lease is in effect or within days thereafter, provided the operator leaves in good property from which such improvements are removed. The operator shall have no right to for improvements that are not removed except as mutually agreed in writing prior to their
	urnish an adequate supply of clean water for the quantity of livestock specified above. s, pumps and water systems shall be paid for as follows:
purchase and/o	at it becomes necessary to purchase and/or transport additional water, the cost of such or transport shall be paid as follows:
	anure. To remove livestock manure at the following approximate times:
and dispose of	it according to the following manner and location:
(Strike this pro	vision if operator is responsible for manure removal.)
Both agree:	
whatsoever wit	te the other party. Neither party shall pledge the credit of the other party for any purpose hout the consent of the other party. Neither party shall be responsible for debts or red or for damages caused by the other party.
	ovements. The operator shall be reimbursed for the costs of any new permanent structures ents paid for or constructed by the operator as follows (check option which applies):
(1)	The operator will be reimbursed by the owner when the improvement is completed.
	The operator will be compensated by the share of the undepreciated amount of the ribution when the lease is terminated based on the value of the operator's contribution and te shown in the following table.
	, power, and machinery contributed by the operator for the construction of permanent shall be agreed upon before repairs are made or construction is started.
3. Environment with all application bear sole responsing permits or prohibited release	tal issues. The operator shall conduct all operations on the property in a manner consistent ble local, state, and federal environmental codes, regulations, and statutes and shall asibility for any violations thereof. The operator shall be solely responsible for securing approvals necessary for their activities on the property. In the event of any legally-ase of materials to the environment, the operator will indemnify the owner for any costs of cleanup and restoration as well as any penalties, fines, judgments or other amounts incurred

4. Additional agreements regarding materials and labor are:

by the owner as a result of such release.

Compensation for Improvements

Type of	Date	Value	contributed	by operator	Total value of operator's	Rate of annual
improvement	completed	<u> Material</u>	Labor_	Machinery	contribution	depreciation
		\$	\$	\$	\$	
		\$	\$	\$	\$	%
		\$	\$	\$	\$	
		\$	\$	\$	\$	%
		\$	\$	\$	\$	%
·		\$	\$	\$	\$	%
		\$	\$	\$	\$	%
		\$	\$	\$	\$	%

V. Arbitration of Differences

Any differences between the parties as to their rights or obligations under this lease that are not settled by mutual agreement after thorough discussion, shall be submitted for arbitration to a committee of three disinterested persons, one selected by each party and the third by the two thus selected. The committee's decision shall be accepted by both parties.

Operator	Owner	
Operator		
Operator's Spouse Date	Owner's Spouse Date	
County of	State of	
On this day of	, 20, before me, the undersigned, a Nota	ry Public in
sold State, personally appeared	to be the identical persons names in and who executed	